


















 

 

 

 

 

 

AMENDED AND RESTATED 

BYLAWS 

 PARK HOSPITAL DISTRICT 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revised: June 25, 2025, but Effective Date as indicated on Signature Page 

 



 

i 

 Table of Contents  

 Page 

ARTICLE I. NAME........................................................................................................................ 1 

ARTICLE II. ORGANIZATION .................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE III. PURPOSE ............................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE IV. BOARD OF DIRECTORS ..................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE V. POWERS OF THE BOARD .................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE VI. MEETINGS ............................................................................................................ 4 

ARTICLE VII. OFFICERS ............................................................................................................ 5 

ARTICLE VIII. COMMITTEES .................................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE IX. AUXILIARY ORGANIZATIONS ......................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE X. DISSOLUTION ....................................................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE XI. INDEMNIFICATION ............................................................................................ 7 

ARTICLE XII. GENERAL PROVISIONS .................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE XIII. AMENDMENTS TO AND REVOCATION OF BYLAWS ............................... 8 

 

          

 



 

1 

BYLAWS 

PARK HOSPITAL DISTRICT 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

ARTICLE I. 

NAME 

The name of the organization shall be the Park Hospital District (the “District”).  

ARTICLE II. 

ORGANIZATION 

The District shall operate pursuant to the provisions of the Special District Act, C.R.S. § 32-1-101, 

et seq. as amended from time-to-time, (the “Act”) and such other statutes as may pertain to special 

districts, including but not limited to the applicable portions of C.R.S. § 29 et seq., as amended 

from time-to-time.  

These Board of Directors Bylaws (“Bylaws”) shall control all the operation, policies, and 

procedures of the District, its Directors and Officers. In the event of a conflict between these 

Bylaws and the applicable statutes, the statutes shall govern. 

ARTICLE III. 

PURPOSE 

 

The District’s purpose is to assist in providing facilities and services for rendering comprehensive 

health care on an inpatient, outpatient or other basis for the residents and visitors of the District 

and surrounding communities.  In furtherance of these purposes the District Board presented Ballot 

Issue 8A to the District’s eligible electors during the regular election held on May 2, 2023, which 

provided as follows: 

Without imposing any new tax or increasing any tax rate, shall Park Hospital District, doing 

business as Estes Park Health, be authorized to enter into one or more agreements, 

constituting a multiple fiscal year financial obligation within the meaning of Article X, 

Section 20(4)(b) of the Colorado Constitution, with one or more nonprofit health care 

providers concerning the ownership, operation, and maintenance of all or any portion of 

the District’s hospital and other healthcare and related facilities and assets, including the 

lease or other conveyance from the district of real and personal property, and to pledge all 

or any portion of the District’s revenues pursuant to such agreements? 

The District’s eligible electors overwhelmingly (80.3%) approved Ballot Issue 8A during the May 

2, 2023 election, thereby authorizing the District Board to identify and pursue potential nonprofit 

health care provider partners for the purpose of achieving the goals set forth in Ballot Issue 8A.   



 

2 

Pursuant to this voter approval to enter into multiple year fiscal year financial obligations and 

pledge any or all of its tax revenues; and its specific statutory authority under C.R.S. § 32-1-

1003(1)(a), as amended from time-to-time, to establish, maintain, or operate, directly or indirectly 

through lease to or from other parties or other arrangement, public hospitals, convalescent centers, 

nursing care facilities, intermediate care facilities, emergency facilities, community clinics, or 

other facilities providing health and personal care services, entered into negotiations with the 

University of Colorado Health (“UCHealth”) to establish a long term lease intended to achieve the 

District’s purposes. 

During 2025 the District entered the Health System Operating Lease Agreement between Park 

Hospital District, UCHealth, and UCHealth Newco Hospital (a wholly controlled affiliate of 

UCHealth, anticipated to be renamed or do business as UCHealth Estes Valley Medical Center – 

“EVMC”) dated May 20, 2025 and upon Closing of such Operating Lease Agreement, entered  

into the Integration and Affiliation Agreement between the same parties (the “Definitive 

Agreements”).   

The Definitive Agreements establish a lease and other arrangements with UCHealth and EVMC 

by which the District leased, assigned, conveyed or transferred all of its healthcare operations and 

assets to EVMC for their continued use to service the healthcare needs of the District’s residents 

and visitors. Pursuant to the Definitive Agreements, the District also committed to pledge and 

transfer substantially all of its tax revenue to EVMC to support EVMC’s operations in the District.  

The overall goal of the Definitive Agreements is to best preserve the continuation of healthcare 

services in the community served by the District for the benefit of its residents and visitors, while 

at the same time allowing those healthcare operations to benefit from operating as part of an 

integrated health care system.  The arrangements established by the Definitive Agreements are 

intended to (i)  create an integrated cost-effective, and efficient delivery system that will meet the 

health care needs of the community served by the District, (ii) maintain access to certain integrated 

primary, secondary, and advanced tertiary services, (iii) best ensure the maintenance of certain 

essential clinical services lines, and (iv) to provide charitable, educational, and community benefits 

for the community served by the District. 

ARTICLE IV. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Section 4.1.  Number, Tenure, and Election. The affairs of the District shall be governed by a 

Board of Directors (“Board” and each member a “Director”) composed of five (5) members who 

shall be elected by the qualified electors of the District in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1- 305.5, 

as amended from time-to-time. 

Directors are elected in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-19-110 and C.R.S. § 32-1-103(17), as 

amended from time-to-time. Unless the limitations on terms are waived or modified by District 

electors, each Director’s term of office shall be limited to two consecutive four-year terms in 

accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-305.5, as amended from time-to-time. 

Directors are elected to four-year staggered terms in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-305.5, as 

amended from time-to-time. If a vacancy exists as provided by state statute, any appointee shall 



 

3 

serve until the next regular board election at which time any candidate for such office shall be 

elected to the then remaining term of that office. 

Section 4.2.  Qualifications. Any candidate for the office of Director shall be an elector of the 

District, meeting the qualifications set forth in C.R.S. § 32-1-103(5). 

Section 4.3.  Oath of Office. Each Director shall, within thirty (30) days after the election, and as 

provided in C.R.S. § 32-1-901, as amended from time-to-time, take an Oath that he or she will 

faithfully perform the duties of his/her office. At the time of filing the Oath with the Clerk of the 

Court and Division of Local Government, there shall also be filed, at the expense of the District, a 

surety bond for each Director in an amount determine by the Board of not less than One Thousand 

Dollars ($1,000.00). 

Section 4.4.  Compensation. The Board shall serve without compensation or remuneration, except 

that reimbursement for actual expenses incurred on behalf of the District shall not be considered 

compensation. An itemized statement of all such expenses shall be filed with the Secretary of the 

District prior to payment thereof. 

Section 4.5.  Resignation. Any Director may resign his/her office at any time, such resignation to 

be made in writing and forwarded, by hand delivery or certified mail, to the board. 

Section 4.6.  Vacancy. A Director’s office shall be deemed vacant upon the occurrence of any one 

of the events described in C.R.S. § 32-1-905, as amended from time-to-time, and any such vacancy 

occurring on the Board shall be filled in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-905, as amended from 

time-to-time. 

All Board appointments shall be evidenced by an appropriate entry in the minutes of the meeting, 

and the Board shall cause notice of the appointment to be delivered to the person so appointed. A 

duplicate of the notice, together with the mailing address of the person so appointed, shall be 

forwarded to the Division of Local Government. 

Section 4.7.  Recall. Any Director elected to the Board who has actually held office for at least 

six (6) months may be recalled from office in accordance with the provisions of C.R.S. § 32-1-906 

and C.R.S. § 32-1-907, as amended from time-to-time. Any Director who shall place his/her own 

personal interests above those of the District may be subject to recall from office pursuant to this 

Section. 

Section 4.8.  Conflict of Interest Policy. Each Director shall comply with any conflict of interest 

policies adopted from time-to-time by the Board. 

ARTICLE V. 

POWERS OF THE BOARD 

Section 5.1.  Section 1. General Powers. Subject to the terms of the Definitive Agreements, the 

Board shall exercise general management and control of the business affairs of the District, and 

shall have and exercise all of the common powers which may be exercised or performed by the 

District under C.R.S. § 32-1-1001, C.R.S. § 32-1-1003, and all other applicable statutes of the 

State of Colorado, as amended from time-to-time, and these Bylaws. 



 

4 

Section 5.2.  Section 2. Financial Powers. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board shall have 

the exclusive oversight of the use and expenditures of all moneys collected to the credit of the 

District, provided such use and expenditures further the Purposes of the District and comply with 

the Definitive Agreements. The Board shall have and exercise all of the financial powers which 

may be exercised or performed by the District under C.R.S. § 32-1-1101 and C.R.S. § 32-1-1103, 

and all other applicable statutes of the State of Colorado, as amended from time-to-time. Without 

limiting the foregoing, the Board shall have the power to invest or have invested, as provided in 

C.R.S. § 32-1-1101(5), C.R.S. § 24-75-601, and in accordance with the Public Deposit Protection 

Act, C.R.S. § 11-10.5-101, et seq., each as amended from time-to-time, District monies and funds, 

or in the office of the Larimer County Treasurer in the District’s name, and to receive the interest, 

gains, and income there from. 

Additionally, subject to the pledge of the District’s revenue pursuant to the Definitive Agreements, 

the Board shall have the power to borrow money, to incur indebtedness, and to issue bonds and 

other evidence of such indebtedness as provided in C.R.S. § 32-1-1101, C.R.S. § 32-1-1103. and 

C.R.S. § 32-1-1301, et seq., as amended from time-to-time, except as may be limited by the Article 

X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution and the Definitive Agreements. Any indebtedness 

incurred shall be in the public interest and shall further the purpose of the District. 

Section 5.3.  Specific Powers. Notwithstanding, and in addition to the above stated powers, 

subject to the terms of the Definitive Agreements, the Board shall have authority to act in a manner 

consistent with its duties, obligations, and scope of authority outlined in the Special Districts Act 

C.R.S. § 32-1-101, et seq., as amended from time-to-time,  the Definitive Agreements and these 

Bylaws.  

Provided, however, the Board may only initiate the dispute resolution process set forth in the 

Definitive Agreements upon approval of  an eighty percent (80%) super majority vote of the Board.  

Section 5.4. Bylaws and Rules and Regulations. The Board shall have the authority to make and 

adopt bylaws, policies, and rules and regulations for its own guidance and governance of the 

District and auxiliary organizations established by the Board as it deems necessary for the 

economic and equitable conduct thereof. Such bylaws, policies, and rules and regulations shall 

not, however, be inconsistent with applicable statutes and accreditation standards. 

ARTICLE VI. 

MEETINGS 

Section 6.1.  Regular Meetings. The Board shall have regular meetings at times and locations 

determined by the Board in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-903, as amended from time-to-time. 

No less than twenty-four (24) hours prior to holding a regular meeting, notice of date, time and 

location along with specific agenda information if available, will be provided on a public website 

in accordance with C.R.S. § 24-6-402. Notice may also be posted in other locations and given to 

local media outlets. In the event the time, date, or location of the regular meeting is changed, notice 

of the change shall be posted by the Secretary at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of the 

meeting. 



 

5 

Section 6.2.  Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board may be called by any Director by 

informing the other Directors in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-903, as amended from time-to-

time. Notice of a Special Meeting shall be posted, as provided in Section 1 above, at least twenty-

four (24) hours prior to the said meeting. 

Section 6.3.  Quorum and Agenda. All official business of the Board shall be conducted only 

during said regular or special meetings at which a quorum is present. Three (3) members of the 

Board shall constitute a quorum. An agenda for each meeting shall be prepared and posted at least 

twenty-four (24) hours in advance at the placed designated by the Board in January of each year. 

Section 6.4.  Meetings by Teleconference. Any meeting of the Board may be held by 

teleconference or similar communication equipment by means which all persons participating in 

the meeting can hear each other, and such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in 

person at the meeting. 

Section 6.5.  Procedure. So far as is practical, Robert’s Rules of Order shall govern the conduct 

of the meetings; provided, however, that no action of the board shall be invalidated due to any 

technical non-compliance with such Rules. 

Section 6.6.  Minutes of Regular and Special Meetings. Minutes of Regular and Special Board 

meetings shall include a record of the proceedings, attendance, any actions taken, and any 

recommendations made. The minutes shall be prepared by the Secretary or other individual 

designated by the Secretary and shall be signed by the presiding officer or Board member. The 

original copy of the minutes shall be kept on permanent file with the District and in a visual text 

format that may be transmitted electronically, in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-902(1), as 

amended from time-to-time. 

Section 6.7.  Executive Sessions. All regular and special meetings of the Board shall be publicly 

noticed as described above and shall be open to the public except that, upon the affirmative vote 

of two-thirds (2/3) of the quorum present, the Board may go into Executive Session for the sole 

purpose of considering any of the matters authorized by, and in accordance with, C.R.S. § 24-6- 

402, as amended from time-to-time. Discussions that occur in Executive Sessions shall be 

electronically recorded and shall be retained for at least ninety (90) days after the date of the 

Executive Session. 

Section 6.8.  Informal Meetings. The Board may hold informal meetings. The purpose of the 

informal meeting is not to discuss or undertake a rule, regulation, ordinance, or other formal action, 

and, as a result, the informal meetings are not a part of the Board’s policy-making function and 

the Colorado Open Meetings Law C.R.S. § 24-6-402 does not apply. The dates and topics 

discussed at informal meetings will be kept on file. 

ARTICLE VII. 

OFFICERS 

Section 7.1.  Identification. The general officers of the Board shall include a Chair, a Vice Chair, 

a Secretary, and a Treasurer, all of whom, except the Secretary, shall be members of the Board. 

The Secretary may be, but need not be, a member of the Board. The fifth Board member shall be 

Member-at-Large. The Board may appoint an assistant Secretary and an assistant Treasurer, which 



 

6 

offices may be held by the same person, from outside the membership of the Board. All assistant 

officers who are not Directors may be compensated as determined by the Board. 

Section 7.2.  Election. Officers shall be elected at a regular or special Board meeting when their 

terms expire or when a vacancy occurs during the term of an officer. A nominee shall be elected 

upon receiving the majority vote of all members of the Board. If no nominee receives the majority 

of the votes cast on the first ballot, a runoff election between the two (2) candidates receiving the 

highest number of votes shall be held immediately. 

Section 7.3.  Term. The term of service for Board Officer positions shall be one (1)-year 

commencing upon election by the Board and lasting until the end of term or until the next Board 

officer election unless such office shall become vacant through removal or resignation. Board 

members may serve multiple terms in any office. 

Section 7.4.  Removal. Any officer of the Board may be removed for cause by a majority vote of 

all members of the Board. 

Section 7.5.  Vacancies. Vacancies in any position shall be filled at the next regular or special 

meeting of the Board by majority vote of all members of the Board for the remainder of the 

unexpired term. 

Section 7.6.  Bond. The Treasurer shall be required to file with the Clerk of the Court, at the 

expense of the District, a corporate fidelity bond in an amount determined by the Board of not less 

than Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00), conditioned on the faithful performance of the duties of 

Treasurer in accordance with C.R.S. §32-1-902(2), as amended from time-to-time. 

Section 7.7.  Duties of Officers. The following shall be the duties of the Officers: 

a. The Chair. The Chair of the Board shall preside at all meetings of the Board, subject 

to the discretion and supervision of the Board, he/she will have general and active 

control of the District’s affairs and business and general supervision of its officers, 

agents and employees. In addition, he/she shall: 

1. Serve as an ex-officio member of all committees of the Board; 

2. Assure that all duties of the Board are performed effectively and efficiently; 

and 

3. Perform all duties commonly incident to his/her office, and such other 

duties as the board may designate. 

b. Vice Chair. The Vice Chair of the District shall act as Chair pro tem and presiding 

officer during the absence of the Chair and perform such other duties as the Board 

may designate. 

c. Secretary. The Secretary shall: 



 

7 

1. Be the custodian of and ensure that a complete and accurate notebook and 

in a visual text format that may be transmitted electronically of the minutes 

of all meetings, and keep on file all certificates, contracts, bonds given by 

employees, and all corporate acts in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-902(1), 

as amended from time-to-time. Such records shall be open for inspection by 

any elector, as well as, any other interested parties in accordance with the 

Colorado Open Records Act, C.R.S. § 24-72-201 et seq., as amended from 

time to time. 

2. Have custody of the seal and be responsible for its safekeeping and use; 

3. Ensure that appropriate surety bonds and Oaths of Office are filed for all 

Directors; 

4. Give or cause to be given notice of meetings in accordance with these 

Bylaws or as required by law; and 

5. Perform such other duties as the Board may from time-to-time require. 

6. Duties specified in subsections (1), (2), (3), and (4) above can be designated, 

with Board approval and Board Secretary oversight, to an employee of the 

District (e.g. Executive Secretary) to the extent permitted by the Special 

District Act, C.R.S. § 32-1-101, et seq. as amended from time to time. 

d. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall: 

1. Ensure that a permanent, strict, and accurate account of all money received 

by and disbursed for and on behalf of the District is kept; 

2. Ensure that the moneys of the District in the name of the District are 

deposited in such banks, deposits or trust companies as the Board shall 

designate and shall be authorized in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-1103(2) 

and C.R.S. § 24-75-603, as amended from time-to-time; 

3. Perform such other duties as the Board may from time-to-time require. 

4. Duties specified in subsections (1) and (2) above can be designated, with 

Board approval and Board Treasurer oversight, to an employee of the 

District to the extent permitted by the Special District Act, C.R.S. § 32- 1-

101, et seq. as amended from time to time. 

Section 7.8.  Checks, Drafts, etc. Designated checks, drafts, or other orders for payment of 

money, and all notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued on behalf of the District, shall be 

signed by the Chair and Treasurer of the Board. In accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-1103(2) and 

C.R.S. § 32-1-1103(3), as amended from time-to-time, such signing may, by resolution, be 

delegated to others per the resolution. 



 

8 

ARTICLE VIII. 

COMMITTEES 

Section 8.1.  Committees. Committees of the Board shall be appointed by the Board from time to 

time as the occasion demands. Such Committees shall limit their activities to the purposes for 

which they are appointed and shall have no power to act unless such power is specifically conferred 

by action of the Board. 

ARTICLE IX. 

AUXILIARY ORGANIZATIONS 

Section 9.1.  Establishment. The Board shall have the authority to make provisions for the 

establishment of auxiliary organizations and mechanisms for services provided by individual 

volunteers to assist the District in fulfilling its purpose. An auxiliary organization shall not be 

separately incorporated without the prior formal approval of the Board and any funds raised be an 

auxiliary organization shall be maintained in accounts owned by the District and be subject to the 

terms of the Definitive Agreements.  

Section 9.2.  Bylaws. Each auxiliary organization shall develop bylaws if requested by the Board 

or otherwise required by law. The bylaws of each auxiliary organization shall delineate the purpose 

and function of such organization. The Board shall approve the bylaws, and all amendments and 

additions thereto, before such bylaws and any amendment or addition thereto becomes effective. 

ARTICLE X. 

DISSOLUTION 

Upon dissolution or other termination of the District , any assets remaining after all debts of the 

District have been paid shall be distributed in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-701, as amended 

from time to time. 

ARTICLE XI. 

INDEMNIFICATION 

To the extent permitted by law, and regardless of the existence of insurance coverage, the District 

shall indemnify any person who is serving or has served as a Director or Officer of the Board 

against all reasonable expenses, including, but not limited to, judgments, fines, amounts paid in 

settlement costs and legal fees actually and necessarily incurred by him/her in connection with the 

defense of any litigation, action, suit or proceeding, civil or administrative, to which he/she may 

have been a party by reason of being or having been a Director and/or officer of the Board, but 

only if he/she may have acted in good faith within the scope of his/her authority and for a purpose 

he/she reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the District. A Director and/or officer, or 

former Director and/or officer, shall have no right to reimbursement for matters in which he/she 

has been adjudged liable to the District for wanton and willful misconduct in the performance of 

his/her duties. To the extent applicable, the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, C.R.S. §10-

101 et seq., as amended from time to time, is incorporated by reference into these Bylaws. 



 

9 

ARTICLE XII. 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Section 12.1.  Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the District and its affiliate organizations shall begin 

on the first day of January and end on the 31st day of December of each year. 

Section 12.2.  Ownership of Documents. Written records and other documents relating to the 

District are the property of the District and shall be filed and maintained under the authority of the 

Board and shall not be removed from the District nor shall any information contained therein be 

released without proper authorization unless such document shall be determined by the District’s 

custodian of records to not be a public record as that term is defined in the Colorado Open Records 

Act, C.R.S. § 24-72-200.1 et seq., as amended from time-to-time. 

ARTICLE XIII. 

AMENDMENTS TO AND REVOCATION OF BYLAWS 

Section 13.1.  Amendments. These Bylaws shall be reviewed periodically, with any amendments 

approved by affirmative vote of not less than three (3) members of the Board and may be amended 

or repealed and new Bylaws adopted by the Board through a vote in an open meeting. Provided, 

however, that as long as either of the Definitive Agreements remains in effect, these Bylaws shall 

not be modified or amended in a manner that is inconsistent with the terms of either Definitive 

Agreement. An amendment changing the number of Directors can be adopted only upon the 

approval and adoption of a resolution by a three fourths majority vote of members of the Board 

present in-person at a meeting called for that purpose, provided that such resolution is approved 

and in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-902.5, as amended from time-to-time.   

Section 13.2.  Revocation. Upon adoption of these Bylaws, the current Bylaws now in existence, 

and all amendments thereto, shall be repealed. 

These Bylaws were duly reviewed and amended. They were adopted to be effective upon the 

Closing (such term as defined in that certain Operating Lease Agreement, by and between the Park 

Hospital District, UCHealth, and EVMC dated May 20, 2025).   

 

____________________________________   ___________________________________  

  

Secretary of the Board Chair of the Board 

  



 

10 

Other amendments: 

 

April 1987 

July 1988 

June 1992 

May 1995 

May 1999 

June 2003 

January 2005 

May 2005 

June 2006 

June 2007 

May 2008 

February 2009 

March 2009 

June 2, 2009 

June 2010 

August 2010 

July 26, 2011 

May 29, 2012 

May 28 2013 

May 29 2014 

May 28 2015 

May 31 2016 

Dec 5 2017 

Aug 29 2019 

  













AMENDED AND RESTATED SERVICE PLAN 

FOR PARK HOSPITAL DISTRICT 

(_____ 2025) 

This Amended and Restated Service Plan amends and restates in the entirety, all prior Park 

Hospital District (the “District”) service plans or amendments related thereto.  

A. SERVICES TO BE FURNISHED. 

1. AREA TO BE SERVICED. (not revised) 

The area to be served is described as follows: 

All of Township 4 North, Range 72 West of the 6th P.M.; That part of Township 4 

North, Range 73 West of the 6th P.M.; That part of Township 4 North, Range 74 

West of the 6th P.M. which is a part of Larimer County; all of Township 5 North, 

Range 72 West of the 6th P.M.; all of Township 5 North, Range 73 West of the 6th 

P.M.; all of Township 5 North, Range 74 West of the 6th P.M.; That part of 

Township 5 North, Range 75 West of the 6th P.M. which is a part of Larimer 

County; all of Township 6 North, Range 72 West of the 6th P.M.; Sections 13, 14, 

15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36 

of Township 7 North, Range 72 West of the 6th P.M.; Sections 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 

21, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33 of Township 4 North, Range 71 West of the 6th P.M.; all 

in Larimer County, Colorado. 

A map of the District service area is attached and marked as “Exhibit A” and incorporated 

by reference.  

2. UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO HEALTH AFFILIATION 

The District shall assist in providing facilities and services for rendering comprehensive 

health care on an inpatient, outpatient or other basis for the residents and visitors of the 

District service area and surrounding communities.  The District Board of Directors (the 

“District Board”) presented Ballot Issue 8A to the District’s eligible electors during the 

regular election held on May 2, 2023, which provided as follows: 

Without imposing any new tax or increasing any tax rate, shall Park Hospital 

District, doing business as Estes Park Health, be authorized to enter into one or 

more agreements, constituting a multiple fiscal year financial obligation within the 

meaning of Article X, Section 20(4)(b) of the Colorado Constitution, with one or 

more nonprofit health care providers concerning the ownership, operation, and 

maintenance of all or any portion of the District’s hospital and other healthcare and 

related facilities and assets, including the lease or other conveyance from the district 

of real and personal property, and to pledge all or any portion of the District’s 

revenues pursuant to such agreements? 



The District’s eligible electors approved(80.3%)  Ballot Issue 8A during the May 2, 2023 

election, thereby authorizing the District Board to identify and pursue potential nonprofit 

health care provider partners for the purpose of achieving the goals set forth in Ballot Issue 

8A.   

Pursuant to this voter approval to enter into multiple year fiscal year financial obligations 

and pledge any or all of its tax revenues; and its specific statutory authority under C.R.S. § 

32-1-1003(1)(a), as amended from time-to-time, to establish, maintain, or operate, directly 

or indirectly through lease to or from other parties or other arrangement, public hospitals, 

convalescent centers, nursing care facilities, intermediate care facilities, emergency 

facilities, community clinics, or other facilities providing health and personal care services, 

the District entered an Integration and Affiliation Agreement between the District, 

University of  Colorado  Health  (“UCHealth”),  and UCHealth Estes Valley Medical 

Center (“Operator”) dated ________,  and  a Health System Operating  Lease Agreement 

between District and Operator dated  May 20, 2025 (the Integration and Affiliation 

Agreement and the Health System Operating Lease Agreement, collectively, the 

“Agreements”). Except for the ownership of the District’s land and buildings, all other 

assets and operations of the District, including equipment and employees will be 

transferred, or assigned or conveyed to Operator, which will take over and continue 

operations.   

3. FACILITIES. (revised) 

The land and buildings supporting a  critical access hospital and outpatient clinic 

will remain owned by the District but will be leased to the Operator to support the provision 

of healthcare services in the District service area.  

B. ESTIMATE OF POPULATION AND ASSESSED VALUATION. 

1. POPULATION. (revised) 

The estimated permanent population of the District service area is 5,904 persons. 

The estimated population of the District service area during the months from June to 

September is approximately 400,000 persons. The foregoing population figures were taken 

from the 2020 United States Census Bureau and records from the Estes Park Visitor Center.  

2. ASSESSED VALUATION. (revised) 

The estimated assessed valuation of the District is $ 585,744,988.00 as determined 

by the Larimer County Assessor. Included within the District is a portion of the Rocky 

Mountain National Park which will produce no taxable valuation. 

C. FINANCIAL PLAN. 

Attached hereto as “Exhibit B” is an updated financial plan for the District showing 

how the proposed services are to be financed. 

D. CONCLUSION. 



It is submitted this Amended and Restated Consolidated Service Plan for Park Hospital 

District, as required by § 32-1-203(2), C.R.S., establishes that: 

1. There is sufficient existing and projected need for organized service in the area to 

continue to be served by the District. 

2. The existing service in the area would be inadequate for present and projected needs 

without the District. 

3. The District is capable of providing economical and sufficient services to the area 

within the District. 

4. The area in the District has, or will have, the financial ability to discharge the 

proposed indebtedness on a reasonable basis. 

 

 

 

  



Exhibit A 

District Map 

 

 

 

  



Exhibit B 

Financial Plan 

1. General Fund Sources. 

The services to be furnished by the district are to be financed by income from mill levy 

assessed upon the taxable real and personal property located within the District. 

2. Estimated Annual Operating Expenses.  (for 2026, first full year of operation under 

affiliation arrangement) 

Estimated General Operating 

Expenses for District 

                          $635,576.00 

Estimated Mill Levy Transfer to 

Operator under terms of Agreements 

                         $3,920,793.00 

 

3. Estimated Annual Income. (for 2026, first full year of operation under affiliation 

arrangement) 

  Tax Mill Revenue      $ 4,306,369.00 

Ad Valorem Revenue     $ 250,000.00  

       ______________ 

Total Revenue      $ 4,556,369.00 

 

4937-9054-8794v5 




	b6aa6db6-2d7a-4caf-a042-a5ac6c78d077.pdf
	ARTICLE I.  NAME
	The name of the organization shall be the Park Hospital District (the “District”).

	ARTICLE II.  ORGANIZATION
	ARTICLE III.  PURPOSE
	ARTICLE IV.  BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	Section 4.1.   Number, Tenure, and Election. The affairs of the District shall be governed by a Board of Directors (“Board” and each member a “Director”) composed of five (5) members who shall be elected by the qualified electors of the District in ac...
	Section 4.2.   Qualifications. Any candidate for the office of Director shall be an elector of the District, meeting the qualifications set forth in C.R.S. § 32-1-103(5).
	Section 4.3.   Oath of Office. Each Director shall, within thirty (30) days after the election, and as provided in C.R.S. § 32-1-901, as amended from time-to-time, take an Oath that he or she will faithfully perform the duties of his/her office. At th...
	Section 4.4.   Compensation. The Board shall serve without compensation or remuneration, except that reimbursement for actual expenses incurred on behalf of the District shall not be considered compensation. An itemized statement of all such expenses ...
	Section 4.5.   Resignation. Any Director may resign his/her office at any time, such resignation to be made in writing and forwarded, by hand delivery or certified mail, to the board.
	Section 4.6.   Vacancy. A Director’s office shall be deemed vacant upon the occurrence of any one of the events described in C.R.S. § 32-1-905, as amended from time-to-time, and any such vacancy occurring on the Board shall be filled in accordance wit...
	Section 4.7.   Recall. Any Director elected to the Board who has actually held office for at least six (6) months may be recalled from office in accordance with the provisions of C.R.S. § 32-1-906 and C.R.S. § 32-1-907, as amended from time-to-time. A...
	Section 4.8.   Conflict of Interest Policy. Each Director shall comply with any conflict of interest policies adopted from time-to-time by the Board.

	ARTICLE V.  POWERS OF THE BOARD
	Section 5.1.   Section 1. General Powers. Subject to the terms of the Definitive Agreements, the Board shall exercise general management and control of the business affairs of the District, and shall have and exercise all of the common powers which ma...
	Section 5.2.   Section 2. Financial Powers. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board shall have the exclusive oversight of the use and expenditures of all moneys collected to the credit of the District, provided such use and expenditures further the P...
	Section 5.3.   Specific Powers. Notwithstanding, and in addition to the above stated powers, subject to the terms of the Definitive Agreements, the Board shall have authority to act in a manner consistent with its duties, obligations, and scope of aut...
	Provided, however, the Board may only initiate the dispute resolution process set forth in the Definitive Agreements upon approval of  an eighty percent (80%) super majority vote of the Board.
	Section 5.4.  Bylaws and Rules and Regulations. The Board shall have the authority to make and adopt bylaws, policies, and rules and regulations for its own guidance and governance of the District and auxiliary organizations established by the Board a...

	ARTICLE VI.  MEETINGS
	Section 6.1.   Regular Meetings. The Board shall have regular meetings at times and locations determined by the Board in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-903, as amended from time-to-time. No less than twenty-four (24) hours prior to holding a regular me...
	Section 6.2.   Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board may be called by any Director by informing the other Directors in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-903, as amended from time-to-time. Notice of a Special Meeting shall be posted, as provided ...
	Section 6.3.   Quorum and Agenda. All official business of the Board shall be conducted only during said regular or special meetings at which a quorum is present. Three (3) members of the Board shall constitute a quorum. An agenda for each meeting sha...
	Section 6.4.   Meetings by Teleconference. Any meeting of the Board may be held by teleconference or similar communication equipment by means which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and such participation in a meeting shall...
	Section 6.5.   Procedure. So far as is practical, Robert’s Rules of Order shall govern the conduct of the meetings; provided, however, that no action of the board shall be invalidated due to any technical non-compliance with such Rules.
	Section 6.6.   Minutes of Regular and Special Meetings. Minutes of Regular and Special Board meetings shall include a record of the proceedings, attendance, any actions taken, and any recommendations made. The minutes shall be prepared by the Secretar...
	Section 6.7.   Executive Sessions. All regular and special meetings of the Board shall be publicly noticed as described above and shall be open to the public except that, upon the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the quorum present, the Board m...
	Section 6.8.   Informal Meetings. The Board may hold informal meetings. The purpose of the informal meeting is not to discuss or undertake a rule, regulation, ordinance, or other formal action, and, as a result, the informal meetings are not a part of...

	ARTICLE VII.  OFFICERS
	Section 7.1.   Identification. The general officers of the Board shall include a Chair, a Vice Chair, a Secretary, and a Treasurer, all of whom, except the Secretary, shall be members of the Board. The Secretary may be, but need not be, a member of th...
	Section 7.2.   Election. Officers shall be elected at a regular or special Board meeting when their terms expire or when a vacancy occurs during the term of an officer. A nominee shall be elected upon receiving the majority vote of all members of the ...
	Section 7.3.   Term. The term of service for Board Officer positions shall be one (1)-year commencing upon election by the Board and lasting until the end of term or until the next Board officer election unless such office shall become vacant through ...
	Section 7.4.   Removal. Any officer of the Board may be removed for cause by a majority vote of all members of the Board.
	Section 7.5.   Vacancies. Vacancies in any position shall be filled at the next regular or special meeting of the Board by majority vote of all members of the Board for the remainder of the unexpired term.
	Section 7.6.   Bond. The Treasurer shall be required to file with the Clerk of the Court, at the expense of the District, a corporate fidelity bond in an amount determined by the Board of not less than Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00), conditioned on...
	Section 7.7.   Duties of Officers. The following shall be the duties of the Officers:
	a. The Chair. The Chair of the Board shall preside at all meetings of the Board, subject to the discretion and supervision of the Board, he/she will have general and active control of the District’s affairs and business and general supervision of its ...
	1. Serve as an ex-officio member of all committees of the Board;
	2. Assure that all duties of the Board are performed effectively and efficiently; and
	3. Perform all duties commonly incident to his/her office, and such other duties as the board may designate.

	b. Vice Chair. The Vice Chair of the District shall act as Chair pro tem and presiding officer during the absence of the Chair and perform such other duties as the Board may designate.
	c. Secretary. The Secretary shall:
	1. Be the custodian of and ensure that a complete and accurate notebook and in a visual text format that may be transmitted electronically of the minutes of all meetings, and keep on file all certificates, contracts, bonds given by employees, and all ...
	2. Have custody of the seal and be responsible for its safekeeping and use;
	3. Ensure that appropriate surety bonds and Oaths of Office are filed for all Directors;
	4. Give or cause to be given notice of meetings in accordance with these Bylaws or as required by law; and
	5. Perform such other duties as the Board may from time-to-time require.
	6. Duties specified in subsections (1), (2), (3), and (4) above can be designated, with Board approval and Board Secretary oversight, to an employee of the District (e.g. Executive Secretary) to the extent permitted by the Special District Act, C.R.S....

	d. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall:
	1. Ensure that a permanent, strict, and accurate account of all money received by and disbursed for and on behalf of the District is kept;
	2. Ensure that the moneys of the District in the name of the District are deposited in such banks, deposits or trust companies as the Board shall designate and shall be authorized in accordance with C.R.S. § 32-1-1103(2) and C.R.S. § 24-75-603, as ame...
	3. Perform such other duties as the Board may from time-to-time require.
	4. Duties specified in subsections (1) and (2) above can be designated, with Board approval and Board Treasurer oversight, to an employee of the District to the extent permitted by the Special District Act, C.R.S. § 32- 1-101, et seq. as amended from ...


	Section 7.8.   Checks, Drafts, etc. Designated checks, drafts, or other orders for payment of money, and all notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued on behalf of the District, shall be signed by the Chair and Treasurer of the Board. In accorda...

	ARTICLE VIII.  COMMITTEES
	Section 8.1.   Committees. Committees of the Board shall be appointed by the Board from time to time as the occasion demands. Such Committees shall limit their activities to the purposes for which they are appointed and shall have no power to act unle...

	ARTICLE IX.  AUXILIARY ORGANIZATIONS
	Section 9.1.   Establishment. The Board shall have the authority to make provisions for the establishment of auxiliary organizations and mechanisms for services provided by individual volunteers to assist the District in fulfilling its purpose. An aux...
	Section 9.2.   Bylaws. Each auxiliary organization shall develop bylaws if requested by the Board or otherwise required by law. The bylaws of each auxiliary organization shall delineate the purpose and function of such organization. The Board shall ap...

	ARTICLE X.  DISSOLUTION
	ARTICLE XI.  INDEMNIFICATION
	ARTICLE XII.  GENERAL PROVISIONS
	Section 12.1.   Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the District and its affiliate organizations shall begin on the first day of January and end on the 31st day of December of each year.
	Section 12.2.   Ownership of Documents. Written records and other documents relating to the District are the property of the District and shall be filed and maintained under the authority of the Board and shall not be removed from the District nor sha...

	ARTICLE XIII.  AMENDMENTS TO AND REVOCATION OF BYLAWS
	Section 13.1.   Amendments. These Bylaws shall be reviewed periodically, with any amendments approved by affirmative vote of not less than three (3) members of the Board and may be amended or repealed and new Bylaws adopted by the Board through a vote...
	Section 13.2.   Revocation. Upon adoption of these Bylaws, the current Bylaws now in existence, and all amendments thereto, shall be repealed.


	b77ca318-39ab-4b15-82c9-9be4fbf79462.pdf
	This Amended and Restated Service Plan amends and restates in the entirety, all prior Park Hospital District (the “District”) service plans or amendments related thereto.
	A. SERVICES TO BE FURNISHED.
	1. AREA TO BE SERVICED. (not revised)
	2. UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO HEALTH AFFILIATION
	The District shall assist in providing facilities and services for rendering comprehensive health care on an inpatient, outpatient or other basis for the residents and visitors of the District service area and surrounding communities.  The District Bo...
	Without imposing any new tax or increasing any tax rate, shall Park Hospital District, doing business as Estes Park Health, be authorized to enter into one or more agreements, constituting a multiple fiscal year financial obligation within the meaning...
	The District’s eligible electors approved(80.3%)  Ballot Issue 8A during the May 2, 2023 election, thereby authorizing the District Board to identify and pursue potential nonprofit health care provider partners for the purpose of achieving the goals s...
	Pursuant to this voter approval to enter into multiple year fiscal year financial obligations and pledge any or all of its tax revenues; and its specific statutory authority under C.R.S. § 32-1-1003(1)(a), as amended from time-to-time, to establish, m...
	3. FACILITIES. (revised)

	B. ESTIMATE OF POPULATION AND ASSESSED VALUATION.
	1. POPULATION. (revised)
	2. ASSESSED VALUATION. (revised)

	C. FINANCIAL PLAN.
	Attached hereto as “Exhibit B” is an updated financial plan for the District showing how the proposed services are to be financed.
	D. CONCLUSION.
	It is submitted this Amended and Restated Consolidated Service Plan for Park Hospital District, as required by § 32-1-203(2), C.R.S., establishes that:
	1. There is sufficient existing and projected need for organized service in the area to continue to be served by the District.
	2. The existing service in the area would be inadequate for present and projected needs without the District.
	3. The District is capable of providing economical and sufficient services to the area within the District.
	4. The area in the District has, or will have, the financial ability to discharge the proposed indebtedness on a reasonable basis.
	1. General Fund Sources.
	2. Estimated Annual Operating Expenses.  (for 2026, first full year of operation under affiliation arrangement)
	3. Estimated Annual Income. (for 2026, first full year of operation under affiliation arrangement)
	Tax Mill Revenue      $ 4,306,369.00
	Ad Valorem Revenue     $ 250,000.00
	______________
	Total Revenue      $ 4,556,369.00




